Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

Review Thermodynamics of lipid interactions in complex bilayers

Paulo F.F. Almeida *

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of North Carolina Wilmington, Wilmington, NC 28403, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 June 2008 Received in revised form 29 July 2008 Accepted 6 August 2008 Available online 15 August 2008

Keywords: Rafts Liquid-ordered phase Phase separation Lipid-lipid interactions Condensed complexes Transbilayer coupling

ABSTRACT

The mutual interactions between lipids in bilayers are reviewed, including mixtures of phospholipids, and mixtures of phospholipids and cholesterol (Chol). Binary mixtures and ternary mixtures are considered, with special emphasis on membranes containing Chol, an ordered phospholipid, and a disordered phospholipid. Typically the ordered phospholipid is a sphingomyelin (SM) or a long-chain saturated phosphatidylcholine (PC), both of which have high phase transitions temperatures; the disordered phospholipid is 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoylphosphatidylcholine (POPC) or dioleoylphosphatidylcholine (DOPC). The unlike nearest-neighbor interaction free energies (ω_{AB}) between lipids (including Chol), obtained by an variety of unrelated methods, are typically in the range of 0–400 cal/mol in absolute value. Most are positive, meaning that the interaction is unfavorable, but some are negative, meaning it is favorable. It is of special interest that favorable interactions occur mainly between ordered phospholipids and Chol. The interpretation of domain formation in complex mixtures of Chol and phospholipids in terms of phase separation or condensed complexes is discussed in the light of the values of lipid mutual interactions.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	73
2.	How lipid–lipid interactions are defined and measured	73
3.	Interactions between phospholipids in the plane of the membrane	76
4.	Interactions across the bilayer	77
5.	Mixtures of cholesterol and phospholipids	78
6.	Interactions in the ℓ_d phase: low cholesterol content	79
7.	Interactions in the ℓ_o phase: high cholesterol content.	80
8.	Interactions between SM and POPC	81
9.	Ternary mixtures of DPPC/DOPC/cholesterol	81
10.	Ternary mixtures of SM/POPC/cholesterol	81
11.	Conclusion: complex behavior from simple interactions	82
Ackn	owledgments	83
Refe	ences	83

* Tel.: +1 910 962 7300; fax: +1 910 962 3013.

E-mail address: almeidap@uncw.edu.

Abbreviations: Chol, cholesterol; SM, sphingomyelin; PC, phosphatidylcholine; PS, phosphatidylserine; PG, phosphatidylglycerol; PE, phosphatidylethanolamine; PA, phosphatidic acid; POPC, 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoylphosphatidylcholine; DOPC, dioleoylphosphatidylcholine; DLPC, dilauroylpho-sphatidylcholine; DMPC, dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine; DPPC, dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine; DSPC, distearoylphosphatidylcholine; DMPE, dimyristoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DPPE, dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DPPE, dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DMPC, dimyristoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DPPE, dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DMPC, dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine; PSM, *N*-palmitoylphosphatidylglycerol; DMPA, dimyristoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DIPC, dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DMPC, dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine; PSM, *N*-palmitoylphosphatidylethosphatidylglycerol; DMPA, dimyristoylphosphatidylethanolamine; DMPC, lignoceroylphosphatidylcholine; PSM, *N*-palmitoylphosphatidylcholine; di16:1PC, dipalmitoelyphosphatidylcholine; di24:1PC, dimyristoelyphosphatidylcholine; di20:4PC, diarachidonoylphosphatidylcholine; di22:6PC, didocosahexaenoylphosphatidylcholine; DSC, differential scanning calorimetry; ITC, isothermal titration calorimetry; PPC, pressure perturbation calorimetry; T_m, main transition temperature; E/M, excimer-to-monomer ratio; ω_{AB}, nearest-neighbor interaction free energy; FRET, fluorescence resonance energy transfer; SUV, small unilamellar vesicle; LUV, large unilamellar vesicle; NNR, nearest neighbor recognition; MD, molecular dynamics

^{0005-2736/\$ -} see front matter © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.08.007

1. Introduction

The field of inhomogeneous membranes began with the publication of phase diagrams for binary mixtures of phospholipids [1] or a phospholipid and cholesterol [2]. Coexistence regions of gel and fluid phases [1-4], or two fluids [3] were identified in those phase diagrams, demonstrating that lipids do not mix ideally in general. Rather, different membrane components or different states of a phospholipid interact differently with each other, displaying mutual preferences that determine the distribution of their nearest neighbors in the membrane. If the interactions between two types of lipids are repulsive, meaning that these two lipids interact better with like than with unlike neighbors, the lipids will demix into domains. If the interactions are strongly repulsive, a complete separation of components will occur. How strong are these lipid-lipid interactions? What values must they have for a mixture to deviate detectably from an ideal mixture? When will domains begin to form and how large do repulsive interactions need to be for complete demixing to occur? Do some components prefer to interact with unlike lipids? What are the physical origins of these interactions?

Those are the questions addressed in this review. First, the meaning of lipid interaction as used here will be precisely defined. Then, the interactions between different phospholipids or different states of a phospholipid in the plane of the membrane will be considered. Next, interactions across the bilayer are discussed. This is a topic often overlooked, but recently there has been a significant interest in the matter, mainly because of the question of whether liquid-ordered (ℓ_o) domains, rich in cholesterol (Chol), in one leaflet of the bilayer are superimposed onto ℓ_o domains in the other leaflet.

This article will then focus on its main topic, the interactions in complex bilayers containing cholesterol. Binary mixtures of Chol and phosphatidylcholine (PC) were proposed to form a monotectic system, with a region of coexistence of ℓ_o and liquid-disordered (ℓ_d) phases in the temperature–composition phase diagram [5]. A statistical–mechanical model was developed, based on microscopic interactions between Chol and the various states of PC (solid, ℓ_d , or ℓ_o). The model successfully explained the excess heat capacity as a function of temperature for PC/Chol binary mixtures obtained by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) [6]. Namely, the high-temperature, broad transition typically observed in these mixtures was a natural outcome of the model [7]. Subsequently, the $\ell_d - \ell_o$ phase coexistence model was supported by several lines of evidence [8–15].

More recently, another model was proposed (or revisited), which postulates the formation of a 'condensed' complex between Chol and PC. Unusual phase diagrams were obtained for PC/Chol monolayers, with pairs of upper miscibility critical points [16], and an abrupt increase in the chemical potential was observed when the Chol concentration just exceeded a certain stoichiometric ratio [17]. Those observations prompted McConnell and co-workers to propose that Chol forms complexes with phospholipids in defined, stoichiometric proportions [18–20]. Several of the previous observations were re-interpreted using the condensed complex model [18]. The broad high-temperature shoulder in the heat capacity functions [14] was interpreted as thermal dissociation of the complexes [19].

Other models have been proposed. Long-range, regular arrangements of lipids in 'superlattices' were invoked to explain a series of 'dips' or 'breaks' recorded in the fluorescence intensity of probes incorporated in bilayers of PC/Chol mixtures [21,22]. However, formation of those superlattices requires a large decrease in entropy, which would have to be compensated by very large and favorable nearest-neighbor interactions. An alternative to explain these observations is the 'umbrella model' [23], which is based on the idea of the need to shield the hydrophobic Chol molecule from water. Pairwise and multibody interactions were used to simulate those effects, but the values of nearest-neighbor interactions required are still very large [23]. Another problem in the proposal of regular arrangements is that the translational diffusion of the minor component would have to be very slow, but the diffusion coefficients of Chol and PC are comparable at all compositions in binary mixtures [24–26].

Which model best explains the data? The magnitudes of the interactions between phospholipids and cholesterol recently published are examined in detail. In the end, the available information from experimental and simulation studies is brought together in a self-consistent view of ternary mixtures containing cholesterol, a saturated and an unsaturated phospholipid, where the complex behavior observed is a consequence of simple lipid–lipid binary interactions.

Domains can form in membranes as a result of dynamic processes, as a stationary state generated by fluxes leading to concentration or depletion of lipid components in particular regions of the membrane. This has been modeled using aggregation kinetics for a phospholipid/ cholesterol mixture, providing a possible mechanism of raft formation and recycling in cells [27]. A different approach combined the recycling idea, that is, the dynamic incorporation and release of cholesterol, with the use of realistic thermodynamic interaction parameters [28]. In this model, domain formation is observed in mixtures of cholesterol with a saturated and an unsaturated phospholipid, provided the lipid interactions are chosen so that the system is close to a phase boundary. However, for these domains to persist long enough they must be stabilized by thermodynamic interactions. Thus, the dynamic aspects of domain formation and the domain sizes at a steady state are influenced by the fluxes of components. But domains will not form to any appreciable extent and time unless the lipid interaction energies have the appropriate magnitude [29]. The definition and magnitudes of those interactions are now discussed.

2. How lipid-lipid interactions are defined and measured

The differences between lipid–lipid interactions determine their mutual preferences and, in thermodynamic equilibrium, the spatial distribution in the plane of the membrane. First, we must define what is exactly meant by lipid–lipid interactions. To do that, consider a simplified model of one of the leaflets of the lipid bilayer. Let us suppose that this leaflet (or monolayer) is formed by lipids placed on the sites of a triangular lattice. Each lipid molecule is surrounded by 6 nearest neighbors. This involves an approximation in that, in the gel state, the acyl chains, not the lipids themselves, occupy the sites of a regular triangular lattice. In reality, a phospholipid or cholesterol molecule in a fluid bilayer probably has 4 to 6 neighbors, on average. However, that approximation is acceptable because essentially similar results are obtained whether lattice points represent lipids or acyl chains [30].

Consider now a binary mixture of two different lipid species A and B, both in the fluid state, occupying the lattice sites. These could be two phospholipids, such as PC and sphingomyelin (SM), or a phospholipid and Chol. There are three types of lipid–lipid interactions, AA, AB, and BB. However, only one thermodynamic parameter is necessary to describe the mutual interactions of these two lipid species, the difference between an AB interaction and the average of AA and BB interactions [31]:

$$\omega_{AB} = g_{AB} - \frac{1}{2}(g_{AA} + g_{BB}), \qquad (1)$$

where g_{AA} and g_{BB} are the Gibbs free energies of interaction between two A or two B molecules, and g_{AB} is the Gibbs energy of interaction between A and B. The parameter ω_{AB} is the unlike nearest-neighbor interaction. It represents one-half of the change in interaction Gibbs energy for the reaction shown in Fig. 1, where two pairs of like neighbors are exchanged to produce two pairs of unlike neighbors. (We seek the value per AB interaction, so we divide by 2.) It is this interaction parameter that determines whether lipids A and B mix well or separate into domains.



Fig. 1. Exchange reaction of two pairs of like lipids to produce two pairs of unlike lipids. Each circle represents a lipid, not an acyl chain. This reaction defines the Gibbs free energy of interaction between unlike lipids, ω_{AB} .

For example, in Fig. 2, the Gibbs free energy change (ΔG°) for the exchange of positions of the two central neighbors is $\Delta G^{\circ} = 6g_{AB} - 3g_{AA} - 3g_{BB} = 6\omega_{AB}$. The mixing entropy favors the right-side of the reaction of Fig. 2 and further mixing thereafter. But if $\omega_{AB} > 0$ the left side is favored. Whether and how much A and B demix depends on the sign and value of ω_{AB} . The more positive ω_{AB} , the more complete the separation into A and B domains. If $\omega_{AB}=0$, random mixing occurs. If $\omega_{AB}<0$, A and B will mix even more uniformly than in a random mixture; if ω_{AB} is very negative, a checkerboard AB pattern will form. The values of ω_{AB} between different lipid species typically vary between -300 to +300 cal/mol [30,32–44], and only in rare cases approach the value of +400 cal/mol required for complete separation of the components [45].

The values of $\omega_{\rm AB}$ give no indication about the physical origin of these interactions, which can be very different for different lipid pairs. They include, for example, the conformational entropy of the acyl chains, London dispersion forces, and hydrogen bonds. In fact, ω_{AB} includes not only the interactions in the plane of the bilayer, but also those with water, such as hydrophobic interactions. In some cases ω_{AB} could originate solely from hydration differences. None of this information is provided by ω_{AB} , but it is not important for thermodynamics. The essential point is that ω_{AB} includes all effects that contribute to the pairwise, nearest-neighbor lipid-lipid interaction. Long-range interactions, involving more distant than nearest neighbors could be included. However, with the decay of van der Waals interactions with distance, nearest neighbors account for about 90% of the interaction [35]. An exception may occur when dealing with ionic lipid membranes in low salt conditions. This point will be discussed later. Finally, the interactions represented by ω_{AB} occur between equilibrium, average conformations of the lipid molecules, which fluctuate about their Gibbs energy minima.

Various approaches have been used to determine ω_{AB} from experimental data. One of the most sensitive methods uses DSC to measure the excess heat capacity as a function of temperature, $C_p(T)$, of pure or mixed bilayers, in combination with a calculation of $C_p(T)$ from the fluctuations in enthalpy (*H*). The fluctuation–dissipation theorem [31] provides the required connection,

$$C_p = \frac{\langle H^2 \rangle - \langle H \rangle^2}{RT^2}.$$
(2)

The enthalpy fluctuations, $\langle H^2 \rangle - \langle H \rangle^2$, are obtained from Monte Carlo simulations [30,32,35] using a simple lattice model of the bilayer, such as that shown in Fig. 2. For example, for a pure lipid undergoing a phase transition, this yields [30,35]

$$C_p = \frac{(\Delta H)^2 \langle (\Delta n_{\rm A})^2 \rangle + \omega_{\rm AB}^2 \langle (\Delta n_{\rm AB})^2 \rangle}{RT^2}$$
(3)

where A and B represent fluid and gel lipids, $(\Delta n_A)^2$ and $(\Delta n_{AB})^2$ are the variances in the numbers of A lipids (fluid) and AB (gel/fluid) contacts, ΔH is the transition enthalpy change, brackets denote ensemble averages, and *R* is the gas constant. The value of ω_{AB} determines $C_p(T)$ and can be adjusted in the calculation until a match with experiment is obtained.

Alternatively, an experimental measure of domain formation can be obtained, for example, from fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) [46] or the excimer-to-monomer ratio (E/M) of a pyrenelabeled lipid [33,34], and compared with Monte Carlo simulations of bilayers. Varying ω_{AB} in the simulations until a match is obtained between the simulations and the experiment provides an estimate of ω_{AB} [33,34,46].

A completely different approach employs the nearest neighbor recognition (NNR) method, using lipids that can be covalently bonded by disulfide bridges [42,43]. The system is first allowed to equilibrate while nearest neighbors exchange disulfide bridges. The reaction is then stopped, generating a quenched mixture. The disulfide-bridged lipids are separated and the numbers of different pairs of lipids are measured [36–41,47]. The results of these experiments are expressed in terms of an equilibrium constant *K* for heterodimer formation, defined by [42],

$$K = \frac{[AB]_{eq}^2}{[AA]_{eq}[BB]_{eq}}.$$
(4)

Ideal mixing results in K=4; if the homodimers are favored, K<4; and if the heterodimers are favored, K>4 [42]. From these data, the interactions parameters ω_{AB} between different pairs of lipids are obtained in a straightforward way [47],

$$\omega_{AB} = -\frac{1}{2}RT \ln(K/4) \tag{5}$$

Division of *K* by 4 is required because the heterodimer is statistically favored over each homodimer by a factor of 2 [42]; this is why K=4 for a random mixture. This entropic factor of 4 has nothing to do with intermolecular interactions and does not enter ω_{AB} [47]. The factor of 1/2 arises because *K* is defined for formation of 2 dimers.

The values of ω_{AB} can also be estimated from the Gibbs energies of release and uptake of lipid components, measured by isothermal titration calorimetry (ITC) [48]. The calculation uses regular solution theory, or the Bragg–Williams approximation in statistical mechanics [31]. The basic assumption of this approximation is that the entropy of mixing is ideal. The excess Gibbs free energy of mixing (ΔG^E) arises entirely from a non-ideal mixing enthalpy (ΔH^E). This is obviously an intrinsic contradiction of the theory, but it is often a reasonable approximation, especially if the interactions are small. In regular solution theory, the excess mixing enthalpy of two components *A* and *B* is given by

$$\Delta H^{\rm E} = \rho X_{\rm A} X_{\rm B} \tag{6}$$

where X_A and X_B are the mole fractions and ρ is an interaction parameter. In a lattice, this parameter is related to ω_{AB} by

$$\rho = z\omega_{\rm AB},\tag{7}$$

where *z* is the coordination number of the lattice (number of nearest neighbors). The values of ω_{AB} obtained from ITC data by this procedure fall within the expected ranges in spite of the approximation intrinsic to regular solution theory. When ω_{AB} is small, this is to be expected because the mixing entropy does not differ too much from the ideal value. For stronger interactions (favorable or unfavorable) ω_{AB} is overestimated in absolute value to compensate for the use of a mixing



Fig. 2. Exchange between two lipids in one leaflet of a lipid bilayer, represented by a triangular lattice. The free energy difference between the initial and the final states is always a multiple of ω_{AB} .

entropy term that is too large (ideal). Any other mixing has fewer possible configurations that random mixing; hence the real mixing entropy is smaller.

Finally, non-ideality interaction parameters have also been extracted from analyses of lipid phase diagrams [49,50]. The earliest estimates were based on the calculation of phase diagrams to reproduce those obtained experimentally [49]. This calculation makes use of a non-ideality parameter, which is related to ω_{AB} , though not in a straightforward manner [51]. More recently, phase diagrams were used in combination with heat capacity curves [52–56] and regular solution theory to obtain interaction parameters. The mixing entropy is assumed ideal and the non-ideality in those mixtures, entirely enthalpic, $\Delta G^{E} = \Delta H^{E}$. This excess mixing enthalpy depends on the mole fractions of the components in each of the phases, gel and fluid, through Eq. (6) applied to each phase separately. Using the values of the transition enthalpy (ΔH) and $T_{\rm m}$ of both components, fits to experimental binary phase diagrams were obtained [50]. This approach was used by Blume's group in one of the most extensive examinations of phospholipid binary mixtures that include anionic components [52-56]. A more complicated version of regular solution theory was employed, in which the excess Gibbs energy is expanded in powers of the lipid mole fractions and only the first two terms are retained [52]. This yields, for each phase,

$$\Delta G^{\rm E} = \Delta H^{\rm E} = X(1-X)[\rho_1 + \rho_2(2X-1)] \tag{8}$$

where *X* is the mole fraction of one of the components in that phase; ρ_1 (defined within each phase) corresponds to ρ in Eq. (6); and ρ_2 is a

Table 1 Unlike nearest-neighbor interaction free energies (ω_{AB}) for several lipid pairs

Lipid A	Lipid B	T (°C)	Chol (mol %)	state (A/B)	$\omega_{ m AB}~(m cal/mol)$	Ref.
DMPC	DSPC	-	-	ld	+80	[32]
DMPC	DSPC	-	-	S	+140	[32]
DMPC	DMPC	-	-	ℓ _d s	+320	[32]
DPPC	DPPC	-	-	ℓ _d s	+280	[30,35]
DSPC	DSPC	-	-	ℓ _d s	+350	[32]
DMPC	DSPC	-	-	s/l d	+370	[32]
DMPC	DSPC	-	-	$\ell_d s$	+410	[32]
POPC	POPS	25	-	ℓ_d	+240	[33,34]
DOPC	POPS	25	-	ℓ_d	+260	[34]
di16:1PC	POPS	25	-	ℓ_d	+280	[34]
di14:1PC	POPS	25	-	l d	+340	[34]
SM	POPC	25	-	lold	+300	[46]
SM	POPC	37	-	l d	0	[48]
SM	Chol	25	-	lo	-350	[46]
SM	Chol	37	-	lo	-600	[48]
POPC	Chol	25	-	l d	+200	[46]
POPC	Chol	37	-	l d	+200	[48]
DMPC ^a	DSPC	60	-	l d	0	[36,38,41,42]
DMPC	POPC	40	-	l d	+30	[37]
DSPC	POPC	60	-	l d	+70	[37]
DMPC	DOPC	40	-	l d	0	[37]
DMPC	DOPC	60	-	l d	0	[37]
DPPC	DOPC	55	-	l d	+70	[37]
DSPC	DOPC	60	-	l d	+110	[37]
DMPC	Chol	60	16	l d	-50	[39]
DPPC	Chol	60	10	l d	20	[47]
DSPC	Chol	60	16	ld	-20	[39]
DMPC	Chol	30	15	ℓ_d	0	[40]
DMPC	Chol	60	40	lo	-80	[39,41]
DPPC	Chol	60	40	lo	-100	[47]
DSPC	Chol	60	40	lo	- 180	[39,41]
DMPC	Chol	30	40	lo	-110	[40]
DPPC	Chol	45	40	lo	-190	[47]
DSPC	Chol	30	40	lo	-240	[40]
DSPC	Chol	30	15	S	+370	[40]
DSPC	DLPC	60	40	lo	+130	[41]

The calculation of ω_{AB} from ITC data [48] uses Eq. (7) with z=6.

^a The interactions listed from this point on in the Table are determined with the NNR method using PC analogues, sometimes in mixtures with actual PC.

Table 2

Unlike nearest-neighbor interaction free energies obtained from fits of phase diagrams, as a function of pH

Lipid A	Lipid B	pН	$\omega_{ m AB}$ gel phase	(cal/mol) fluid phase	Ref.
DMPC	DPPC	7	+20	0	[55]
DMPE	DPPE	7	+20	-10	[55]
DMPG	DPPG	2	+170	+120	[55]
		7	0	0	[55]
DMPA	DPPA	4	-80	-100	[55]
		7	+70	+40	[55]
DMPC	DMPG	2	-280	-250	[54]
		7	-20	-40	[54]
DPPC	DPPG	2	+40	+130	[54]
		7	0	0	[54]
DPPC	DMPG	2	+30	+120	[54]
		7	+70	0	[52,54]
DMPC	DPPG	2	-230	-300	[54]
		7	-100	-190	[54]
DMPC	DMPA	4	-80	+40	[53]
		7	-100	-90	[53]
DPPC	DPPA	4	-30	+130	[53]
		7	-240	-230	[53]
DPPC	DMPA	4	+80	+220	[53]
		7	-50	0	[52,53]
DMPC	DPPA	4	-70	+50	[53]
		7	- 190	-130	[53]
DMPE	DMPG	2	0	+40	[56]
		7	-130	-60	[56]
DPPE	DPPG	2	+110	+110	[56]
		7	-150	-110	[56]
DMPE	DPPG	2	+80	+30	[56]
		7	-100	-70	[56]
DPPE	DMPG	2	-50	-80	[56]

The values of ω_{AB} were calculated from ρ_1 (Eqs. 7 and 8, with z=6).

parameter that accounts for asymmetry in the phase diagrams. The approach of Blume and collaborators was to use the first term in Eq. (8), $\rho X(1-X)$, in conjunction with ΔH and T_m for each lipid to calculate the excess heat capacity function (C_p) for an infinitely cooperative transition. The C_p thus obtained was then convoluted with a 'broadening function' and the resulting expression was used to fit the experimental C_p as a function of temperature for lipid binary mixtures [52]. In a second step, the onset and completion temperatures obtained from those fits were used in combination with the full Eq. (8) to simulate the phase diagrams of the mixtures as a function of composition and temperature. In this process the values of ρ_1 were refined and the asymmetry parameters, ρ_2 , were fitted [52].

An assumption of this approach is that phase separation occurs in the transition region. This is why the parameters ρ are defined to account for interactions between two lipid components *within* each phase. Interactions at interfaces between phases are ignored. This is a problem if the components mix extensively because the interface between gel and fluid becomes very large. Unlike ω_{AB} , which is defined for each state (gel or fluid) of each lipid component, ρ is defined within each phase. Therefore it does not take into account interactions between lipids in two different states. Furthermore, the fits are not very sensitive to the values of ρ , which have, therefore a considerable uncertainty [52]. This is not very problematic to simulate phase diagrams, but it is in relating ρ_1 to lipid–lipid interactions. Assuming a lattice model for the membrane, Eq. (7) relates ω_{AB} to ρ_1 .

A compilation of values of ω_{AB} is presented in Tables 1 and 2. Some important points should be noted. In mixtures that involve zwitterionic lipids or cholesterol (Table 1) the absolute value of ω_{AB} is typically between 100–300 cal/mol. These are small Gibbs energies, of at most half the thermal energy at room temperature (*R*T=600 cal/ mol). At about room temperature, ω_{AB} =+400 cal/mol in a two component system leads to complete phase separation [45], and ω_{AB} =+330 cal/mol (or ω_{AB} =0.528 *RT*) between gel and fluid states is the minimum necessary for a first-order phase transition to occur in dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) [57]. Most unlike lipid–lipid interactions are repulsive (ω_{AB} >0), that is, lipids prefer to interact with like neighbors. Some, however, are attractive (ω_{AB} <0), the interaction between Chol and SM or saturated PC being an especially important example. In mixtures of an anionic and a zwitterionic lipid (Table 2), ω_{AB} is often negative, particularly when the acidic lipid is deprotonated (pH 7), which is a consequence of the electrostatic repulsion between negatively charged, like lipids.

3. Interactions between phospholipids in the plane of the membrane

In one of the first papers attempting to estimate the magnitudes of lipid–lipid interactions in binary mixtures of phospholipids [49], a non-ideality parameter, defined as the ratio of AB pairs in a real system to an ideally mixed system, was adjusted to obtain a match with the experimental phase diagrams of dimyristoylphosphatidyl-choline (DMPC)/distearoylphosphatidylcholine (DSPC), DMPC/DPPC, and DPPC/DSPC. This non-ideality parameter has been empirically related to ω_{AB} , but a theoretical relation between the two does not exist [51]. The values obtained for the non-ideality parameter correspond to $\omega_{AB} \approx 300$ to 600 cal/mol in the gel phase and ≈ 100 to 200 cal/mol in the fluid phase [51]. Using those values, computer simulations were used to model lipid bilayers on a lattice, which showed the formation of domains [51].

The excess heat capacity function, $C_p(T)$, of the gel/fluid phase transition of DPPC SUVs was obtained by DSC. Matching $C_p(T)$ calculated from Monte Carlo simulations (Eqs. (2 and 3)) to the experimental heat capacity yielded ω_{AB} =282 cal/mol [30,35,57]. The effect of treating lattice points in Monte Carlo simulations as whole phospholipids, uncoupled chains, or physically and thermodynamically (infinitely) coupled chains was also examined [30]. The exact values of ω_{AB} vary, but the conclusions are qualitatively unaltered. If the lattice sites are whole lipids, ω_{AB} =282 cal/mol-lipid; if the sites are uncoupled acyl chains, ω_{AB} = 300 cal/mol-chain; and if the sites are thermodynamically coupled chains, ω_{AB} = 175 cal/mol-chain [30]. That is, if the chains are infinitely coupled a smaller unfavorable interaction between gel and fluid states is sufficient to achieve the same degree of segregation of gel and fluid domains. This concept will become important later in the discussion of the effect of pairing SM and Chol in their interaction with unsaturated lipids, such as 1-palmitoyl-2oleoylphosphatidylcholine (POPC).

Mixtures of DMPC/DSPC are almost ideal in the fluid state, but show a broad gel/fluid coexistence region, and largely demix in the gel state [4,58]. Detailed Monte Carlo simulations of the excess heat capacity function of these mixtures led to determination of ω_{AB} for all possible pairs of gel and fluid DMPC and DSPC [32]. Those values are also listed in Table 1, but note that they are calculated per mol of (uncoupled) chains. (Half of the ΔH per mol of lipid for the gel/fluid transition was used in those calculations [32].) The values are \approx +350 cal/mol-chain for gel/fluid interaction of pure DMPC or DSPC; +80 for DMPC/DSPC interaction in the fluid phase; +130 for DMPC/ DSPC interaction in the gel phase; and \approx +400 cal/mol-chain for the fluid state of one lipid interacting with the gel state of the other. As with DPPC, the values of these unlike interactions would be 5–10% smaller if the simulations were performed with lattice sites representing entire lipids instead of uncoupled chains.

A similar approach was used in the simulation of the phase diagrams of a series of homologous binary mixtures of phosphatidylcholines with variable chain length mismatch [59]. Good agreement with the experimental phase diagrams of DMPC/DSPC, DMPC/ DPPC, and dilauroylphosphatidylcholine (DLPC)/DSPC was obtained using an interaction parameter related to the extent of hydrophobic mismatch of the acyl chains. This is essentially equivalent to making ω_{AB} proportional to the acyl chain length difference for each pair of lipids. The concept of hydrophobic mismatch was also used in interpreting the experimental E/M ratio of an acyl chain-labeled pyrene-PC, which clustered maximally when the host lipid was dimyristoleoylphosphatidylcholine (di14:1PC), and decreased as the acyl chain of the monounsaturated PC increased, from di14:1PC to dinervonoylphosphatidylcholine (di24:1PC) [60]. However, as discussed below, there is more to lipid–lipid interactions than hydrophobic mismatch.

Mixtures of PC and phosphatidylserine (PS) in the fluid state have also received considerable attention. By comparing the excess chemical potential of PS, in the presence of Ca⁺⁺, estimated from experiment and from Monte Carlo simulations on a lattice, a value of $\omega_{AB} \approx 0.4-0.6 RT$ was obtained [44], which corresponds to $\approx +300 \text{ cal}/$ mol. This is close to a recent estimate from molecular dynamics (MD) simulations, which in the presence of Ca⁺⁺ (to eliminate the PS-PS electrostatic repulsion) yielded $\omega_{AB} \approx 0.3-0.6 RT$ [61]. In a third study a value of $\omega_{\rm AB}$ =240 cal/mol was obtained [33], which is close to the two other estimates [44,61]. Here the E/M ratio of a pyrenephosphatidylglycerol (pyrene-PG) lipid incorporated in POPC/POPS mixtures was measured upon addition of a PS-binding protein, the C2A motif of synaptotagmin I. In the presence of salt (but absence of Ca⁺⁺), the protein induced an increase in E/M, suggesting formation of PS domains. Monte Carlo simulations mimicking this experiment were performed using ω_{AB} for the PS/PC interaction as the only adjustable parameter. With a value of ω_{AB} =+240 cal/mol the simulations produced results that closely matched the observed increase in E/M and showed that the protein was able to induce PS domains provided a weak repulsion existed between PC and PS [33]. Furthermore, E/M of pyrene-PG was measured in mixtures of PC with POPS, varying the chemical structure of the PC, for a series of monounsaturated PC, from di14:1PC to di24:1PC, and for a series of polyunsaturated PC, dilinoleoylphosphatidylcholine (di18:2PC), dilinolenoylphosphatidylcholine (di18:3PC), diarachidonoylphosphatidylcholine (di20:4PC), and didocosahexaenoylphosphatidylcholine (di22:6PC) [34]. In all cases, E/M decreased as the acyl chain of the PC increased [34]. Monte Carlo simulations reproduced the experimental trend by increasing ω_{AB} from 240 cal/mol in POPC/POPS (matching chains) to 340 cal/mol in di14:1PC/POPS (largest chain mismatch) [34]. This suggested a simple relation between ω_{AB} and the acyl chain hydrophobic mismatch, as in different PC mixtures [59]. However, according to the hydrophobic mismatch concept [62,63], in mixtures of monounsaturated PC with POPS, ω_{AB} should be large for the shorter lipids (di14:1PC), reach a minimum at POPC (identical acyl chains), and increase again as the PC acyl chains became longer. Instead, the E/M decreased monotonically with the chain length of the host PC. Furthermore, membranes of all the polyunsaturated PC examined have about the same hydrophobic thickness, but the E/M varies significantly [34]. Thus, ω_{AB} , which is roughly proportional to E/M [33], increases as the T_m of the lipid decreases. It appears to be largely determined by the conformational entropy and the van der Waals interactions of the unsaturated PC [34].

Lipid interactions in lipid mixtures containing anionic lipids have been examined as a function of pH. They include binary mixtures of PC, phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), PG, and phosphatidic acid (PA) in combinations where the acyl chains or the headgroups vary [52–56]. Table 2 lists values of ω_{AB} calculated from ρ_1 using Eqs. (7 and 8), for a series of phospholipid binary mixtures. The reader is referred to those studies for the values of ρ_2 . The effect of mixing lipids with the same headgroup but chains that differ by two methylene groups was examined in DMPC/DPPC, dimyristoylphosphatidylethanolamine (DMPE)/dipalmitoylphosphatidylethanolamine (DPPE), dimyristoylphosphatidylglycerol (DMPG)/dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol (DPPG), and dimyristoylphosphatidic acid (DMPA)/dipalmitoylphosphatidic acid (DPPA) [55]. The different possible combinations of headgroups and chain length were also examined for PC/PG [52,54], PC/PA [52,53], and PE/PG mixtures [56]. The caveats discussed in section 2 regarding the calculation of ω_{AB} from these data should be kept in mind. In particular, as indicated by the original authors, they have a considerable uncertainty [52]. In addition, some of these experiments were performed under low salt conditions, which mean that longer range contributions to the apparent ω_{AB} are an additional factor. Nevertheless, some interesting conclusions can be reached. First, the interaction free energies that those models yield are of the order of 100 cal/mol. Second, at pH 7, the interaction between an anionic and a zwitterionic phospholipid tends to be favorable (ω_{AB} <0), a consequence the repulsion between two anionic, like lipids. Third, when the pH is lowered, the anionic lipid becomes more protonated and the effect of repulsion decreases; it can then be overcome by the effect of chain length mismatch, which is unfavorable, and lipid headgroup. As a rule, ω_{AB} is more negative at pH 7 than in acidic conditions.

4. Interactions across the bilayer

Lipid interactions across the bilayer, from one leaflet (or monolayer) to the other, have received far less attention over the years. Once in a while, the subject has been approached by different researchers and with different methods. Recently, a surge of interest has occurred in connection with the question of the coherence of the ℓ_d and ℓ_o phases across the membrane in cholesterol-containing systems.

The phase transition of small unilamellar vesicles (SUV) can be followed by the linewidth of the ¹H-NMR signal of the choline methyl groups as a function of temperature [64,65]. In the presence of millimolar quantities of lanthanides, such as 6 mM Pr3+, the phase transition temperature of DPPC SUVs increases from 37 °C to about 40 °C. If the lanthanide is added only to the extravesicular solution, the two monolayers undergo separate phase transitions. Two separate signals are then obtained, with different linewidths [64,65], indicating that the transitions of the two monolayers are thermodynamically uncoupled.¹ But under certain conditions the addition of the metal ion to the outside causes a narrowing of the signal arising from the inner monolayer, which is indicative of some level of communication between the two leaflets of the membrane [64]. Similar results were obtained for DMPC SUVs, indicating that the two leaflets of the bilayer are thermodynamically uncoupled or weakly coupled [66].

In the extreme case of a very asymmetric lipid, in SUVs of Nlignocerylsphingomyelin (LigSM), the transitions of the outer and inner layers are coupled, though not perfectly [65]; but in vesicles of stearoyl SM (SSM), no coupling was observed. This suggested that the very long lignoceryl chain is involved in interdigitation across the bilayer. Yet, interdigitation seems to be a relatively unimportant curiosity. In mixtures of DPPC with 20 mol% N-lignocerylgalactosylceramide (LigGalCer), at a temperature where gel, rich in ceramide, coexists with fluid, rich in DPPC, diffusion of a fluid lipid probe spanning one monolayer was much faster than diffusion of a probe spanning both monolayers of the membrane [67], clearly beyond the small difference in the diffusion coefficients of the two probes measured in homogeneous bilayers [68]. This indicated that the LigGalCer domains are not superimposed across the bilayer, even though they could interdigitate. Conversely, with the same experimental approach, in mixtures of DMPC/DSPC the gel domains were found to be exactly superimposed across the bilayer, thus showing coupling in the absence of interdigitation [67]. The probable reason is the size of the gel domains, which are large in DMPC/DPPC but small in LigGalCer/DPPC. If the cross-sectional area of the domains is small, the interfacial energy in the bilayer midplane is also small, and the driving force for coupling is not sufficient to overcome the configurational entropy of domain distribution, which favors lack of coherence. In mixtures of DLPC/DPPC, which have the same chain length difference as DMPC/DSPC, it was shown by fluorescence microscopy that the gel and fluid phases are coherent across the bilayer, gel matching gel and fluid matching fluid [69], in agreement with the diffusion data in DMPC/DSPC [67].

On the other hand, in NNR experiments, in mixtures of DMPC and DSPC analogues in the fluid state (60 °C), there appears to be a preference for DMPC analogues in one monolayer to be apposed to DSPC analogues in the other monolayer [38]. Thus, those experiments indicate that the lipids are paired across the bilayer in a complementary way, as if to keep a constant bilayer thickness. Furthermore, the preferential interaction free energy across the bilayer between unlike phospholipids was estimated to be \approx -100 cal/mol of lipid [70]. The tendency for complementary matching was also seen in MD simulations using coarse grained models of lipids [71]. In mixtures of model lipids with the equivalent of 12 carbons and 24 carbons in their acyl chains, mimicking DLPC and dilignoceroylphosphatidylcholine (DLigPC), a very clear (anti) correlation was observed across the bilayer, in which DLPC in one layer most often apposed DLigPC in the other layer. The same trend, albeit to a lesser extent, was observed for mixtures of models of DLPC/DSPC.

In mixtures of phospholipids and cholesterol, an important question is whether the ℓ_o phase is coherent across the bilayer, as was proposed based on measurements of bilayer thickness using the ²H-NMR order parameter [9,11]. The concept is that Chol is positioned like a phospholipid in the ℓ_o phase, in either monolayer of the membrane, but may partially enter the bilayer midplane in the more disorganized ℓ_d phase [9]. This idea provides a simple explanation for the phase separation as a way to minimize hydrophobic thickness mismatch at the $\ell_d | \ell_o$ interface. Further evidence for this positioning of Chol was provided by the enhancement of relaxation rates of the carbon nuclei of Chol in ¹³C-NMR when a spin-label phospholipid probe was incorporated in DPPC/Chol membranes. In the ℓ_0 phase the sterol rings showed the largest effect from the spin label, but its alkyl tail showed little effect; in the ℓ_d phase, the alkyl tail showed a significant effect, indicating proximity to the fifth position of the phospholipid probe, where the spin label was attached [11].

Using the NNR method, if about 30 mol% Chol is added to mixtures of phospholipid analogues of DMPC and DSPC, the transbilayer complementarity of those two PC analogues is more pronounced, probably because of ordering of the DSPC analogue by Chol, which enhances the effect on thickness mismatch [72]. Note that these results are obtained in fluid membranes.

More recently, fluorescence microscopy was used to visualize domains in asymmetric bilayers of mixtures of diphytanoylphosphatidylcholine/DPPC/Chol [73]. These planar membranes were assembled from two monolayers with different compositions. If one monolayer has as a composition that produces domains it can induce domain formation in an apposing monolayer with a composition that would not form domains on its own. The results indicate that the ℓ_o and ℓ_d phases are exactly superimposed across the membrane and that the coupling between monolayers is strong enough to drive phase separation in a monolayer with a composition that does not support domain formation if a bilayer were formed with that composition. Conversely, if a weaker domain-forming composition is chosen and assembled into a bilayer with the monolayer that does not form domains, then domains are not detected in either monolayer. Thus, the coupling is strong enough to abolish phase separation in a monolayer with a composition that would normally support it. However, it is important to note that this is not simply a result of

¹ Thermodynamic coupling means that the two monolayers communicate, but it says nothing about superposition (coherence) of ordered or disordered domains across the bilayer.

lipid rearrangements within each monolayer, but significant lipid exchanges occur between the two monolayers driven by the necessity to obtain, in the end, phase coherence across the bilayer [73]. In essence this is in agreement with the proposal of phase coherence across the bilayer based on NMR [9,11]. Some other possibilities have been recently discussed [74]. Yet, the strength of the coupling and its physical origin remain to be established.

A few recent theoretical papers have addressed the interleaflet coupling, using somewhat different approaches to express the free energy, but conceptually similar order parameters, related to Chol concentration [75–77]. With sufficiently strong interleaflet coupling the ordering effect of Chol in one monolayer is transmitted across the bilayer, inducing phase separation, albeit weaker, in the previously uniform apposing monolayer [75]. The number of phases that exist depend on the strength of the coupling parameter [76]. A mean-field approach with regular solution theory leads to similar conclusions [77]. A range of outcomes in terms of phases and their coherence across the bilayer is possible, which depends on the degree of coupling between the monolayers. The results from these calculations produce bilayer configurations [76,77] clearly reminiscent of the pictures obtained by fluorescence microscopy [73].

In summary, in binary mixtures of saturated PC with gel/fluid coexistence, domains appear to be exactly superimposed across the bilayer [67,69]. Those domains are large, which probably provides a sufficient driving force for coherence even if the coupling per lipid is weak. Very strong coupling is ruled out because the phase transitions of the leaflets in SUVs of pure phospholipids can be made to occur separately, though not independently [64-66]. But in DPPC/LigGalCer 80:20, where the domains are small, they are not coherent across the bilayer [67]. In mixtures of pairs of phospholipids in the fluid phase, the tendency appears to be for complementary matching across the bilayer [38,70,71]. In any case, the coupling per lipid is certainly weak, about -100 cal/mol [70]. In PC/Chol mixtures coupling is sufficient to drive domain coherence across the bilayer [9,11,73]. Whether Chol plays a role in this coupling by rapid exchange between the two leaflets (flip-flop), by simply ordering the lipids, or by inducing thickness mismatch is an open question. In any case, its role in



Fig. 3. DMPC/cholesterol phase diagram [12]. Reprinted (with modifications) with permission from Biochemistry 31, 6739–47. Copyright (1992) American Chemical Society.

ordering the PC in the ℓ_o phase appears to be important and is consistent with the superposition of large, ordered, gel domains between the two leaflets [67,69].

5. Mixtures of cholesterol and phospholipids

Binary mixtures of phospholipids and cholesterol were some of the first for which phase diagrams became available [2]. Both DMPC/Chol and DPPC/Chol systems included a region of coexistence between a fluid and a solid phase. The fluid phase was later named liquiddisordered (ℓ_d) and what was originally called solid became known as liquid-ordered (ℓ_0) [5]. In two influential papers [5,7], a theoretical model was proposed that produced monotectic phase diagrams of PC/ Chol mixtures with the same general features as the experimental ones, including a $\ell_d | \ell_o$ phase coexistence region. Subsequently, more evidence for similar phase diagrams in phospholipid/Chol mixtures became available [8,10–15]. An example of this type of phase diagram is shown in Fig. 3 for DMPC/Chol [12]. The basis for phase separation in these mixtures is the preference of Chol to interact with the ordered phospholipid acyl chains. That is, Chol interacts more favorably with the ℓ_o state of the phospholipid (typically PC or SM) than with the ℓ_d state. In PC/Chol mixtures, increasing the cholesterol content leads to an increase in bilayer thickness [9]. Hence, it was proposed that phase separation occurs to minimize the regions of hydrophobic mismatch present at the ℓ_d/ℓ_0 interface.

However, the description of binary mixtures of a high-melting phospholipid, such as a saturated PC or SM, with Chol in terms of ℓ_d/ℓ_o phase separation has been questioned [78,79]. It is clear that domains exist in LUVs of PC/Chol in a significant region of temperature and composition, but those domains have not been observed by fluorescence microscopy in GUVs [79-81]. This indicates that either the domains are smaller in GUVs than in LUVs (which is possible, but a large difference seems unlikely), or else those inhomogeneities are smaller than about 1 µm in length. Should they be called phases? In my opinion, it is not yet clear whether the heterogeneities in PC/Chol mixtures should be classified as phases or not. The size of these domains is certainly smaller than the wavelength of visible light, but this is not a valid criterion for defining a phase. A thermodynamic criterion is necessary. It is interesting to quote what one of the classics on the phase rule says on the matter: 'Although a phase is homogeneous, it is not necessarily continuous. It may be broken up into numerous crystals or drops' [82]. The question of what can be called phase separation was addressed previously [29]. The criterion is that the relative contribution of the interface to the domain energy must be small [83]. Otherwise, the energy density of the phase would depend on domain size. In any case, domains clearly exist in some temperature-composition regions of these systems [12], which reveal the non-ideal interactions between PC and Chol.

In mixtures of POPC/Chol there is certainly no extensive ℓ_d/ℓ_o phase separation. Whether significant domain heterogeneity even exists is not clear. Earlier reports favored the existence of domains [84–86], but the most recent evidence indicates that if domains exist they are very small [46,87–90]. Namely, no micrometer-size domains are observed by fluorescence microscopy [79,87]; a peptide sensitive to $\ell_d | \ell_o$ coexistence fails to detect any in POPC/Chol mixtures [89]; and the first moment of the ²H-NMR spectrum and the area expansion modulus increase linearly with Chol content in POPC bilayers, with no indication of saturation even at 30 mol% Chol, which is consistent with very small domains or compositional fluctuations, but no phase separation [88]. Pressure perturbation calorimetry (PPC) data have been interpreted in terms of two competitive models, one assuming phase separation and the other, a homogeneous mixture [90]. The real data lie in-between these two extremes, suggesting a gradual change of the membrane as Chol concentration increases.

In contrast with binary mixtures of Chol and phospholipids, it is clear that phase separations occur in some ternary mixtures of Chol

with two phospholipids, one with a low $T_{\rm m}$, typically an unsaturated PC, such as POPC or DOPC, and another with a high $T_{\rm m}$, typically SM or a long-chain saturated PC, such as DPPC or DSPC. Large scale ($\geq 1 \mu m$) $\ell_d | \ell_0$ phase separations have been directly observed in these systems by fluorescence microscopy [79-81,87,91], although recent work suggests that in some cases very large domains may result from light-induced coalescence of domains that are initially smaller than the visible range [92]. In any case, domains in these mixtures have also been detected by fluorescence spectroscopy [85], in particular by FRET [46,81,86,93], or by a peptide that is sensitive to ℓ_d/ℓ_o coexistence [89]. Theoretical work has predicted the existence of liquid-liquid phase separation in these ternary systems [94,95]. Abstracting from disagreements on the exact location of the phase boundaries, on which systems exhibit $\ell_d | \ell_o$ phase separations, and on what scale these separations occur, a reasonable consensus has actually emerged on the broad location of a region of $\ell_d | \ell_o$ coexistence (Fig. 4) in the phase diagrams of ternary mixtures of Chol/(SM or saturated PC)/ (DOPC or POPC). Our present concern is to establish the magnitudes of the Gibbs energies (ω_{AB}) corresponding to the molecular interactions that cause domain formation or phase separation.

6. Interactions in the ℓ_d phase: low cholesterol content

The temperature dependence of ω_{AB} between DPPC and Chol was examined by the NNR method [47]. In the ℓ_d phase, in DPPC/Chol 90:10, $\omega_{AB} \approx 0$, independent of temperature, which indicates that the enthalpy of the DPPC/Chol interaction is also $\Delta H_{AB} \approx 0$ [47]. Judging from NNR experiments with DMPC, DPPC, and DSPC analogues [39,40,47], the interaction between Chol and saturated PC in the ℓ_d state is always close to ideal ($\omega_{AB} \approx 0$). But Chol interacts less favorably with unsaturated PC [96], and very unfavorably with polyunsaturated PC [97], as a consequence of an extremely high flexibility of the unsaturated acyl chains [98], which makes for a large entropic penalty if they are placed next to Chol. The interaction of Chol with POPC must therefore be unfavorable in the ℓ_d phase, but small in magnitude, with ω_{AB} probably between 100 and 200 cal/mol [46].

The interactions between Chol, SM, and POPC have been estimated on the basis of the heats of transfer from ITC experiments [48]. Regular



Fig. 4. Schematic phase diagram for ternary mixtures of an ordered phospholipid (SM), a disordered, unsaturated phospholipid (POPC), and Chol. The closed-loop ℓ_d/ℓ_o coexistence region is observed in several systems. Note that at a sufficiently low temperature a triangular region of ℓ_d/ℓ_o /solid coexistence will occur close to the lower (horizontal axis), in addition to two-phase solid/fluid areas.



Fig. 5. Snapshot of a Monte Carlo simulation of POPC/Chol 90:10, with ω_{AB} =+200 cal/ mol with the program used by Frazier et al. [46].

solution theory was used to calculate the Gibbs energies of interaction, assuming that the lipids mix ideally in the corresponding binary mixtures. This is equivalent to the Bragg–Williams approximation in statistical mechanics [31]. It leads to an overestimation of the absolute values of ω_{AB} , to compensate for the assumed random mixing of the components. Nevertheless, especially if ω_{AB} is small in absolute value, the approximation is reasonable because mixing is not too different from random. Larger values of ω_{AB} have a bigger error, but the signs and the approximate magnitude are still correct. A better approach, however, would be to calculate the ω_{AB} directly using Monte Carlo simulations, which yield the exact mixing entropy. The interaction parameter obtained from those ITC data for POPC/Chol in the ℓ_d phase at 37 °C [48] corresponds to ω_{AB} =+200±100 cal/mol.

Based on PPC experiments, at low Chol content, the condensing effect of Chol is weaker than predicted by random mixing, indicating some heterogeneity, which is, however, not as extensive as expected if phase separation occurred [90]. This is consistent with a small but unfavorable interaction between Chol and disordered POPC. Using a combination of FRET and Monte Carlo simulations [46], the POPC/Chol interaction parameter was estimated to be ω_{AB} =+200 cal/mol in the ℓ_d phase, consistent with the value from ITC [48]. This interaction leads to a mixing that is almost indistinguishable from ideal, as illustrated in Fig. 5.

Recent MD simulations examined the transfer of Chol from a POPC bilayer to a stearoyl sphingomyelin (SSM) bilayer in the limit of very low Chol content [99]. The Gibbs energy for transfer of Chol is $\Delta G = -1.6 \pm 0.8$ kcal/mol at 46 °C and $\Delta G = -1.1 \pm 0.6$ kcal/mol at 56 °C. Thus, Chol prefers SSM to POPC bilayers. The entropy of transfer corresponds to $T\Delta S = -13$ kcal/mol (at 56 °C) [99], which is unfavorable, and the transfer is exothermic with $\Delta H = -14$ kcal/mol. A value of $\Delta H = -10$ kcal/mol is estimated from ITC [103] by extrapolating to zero Chol content the enthalpies of Chol transfer from POPC to SM bilayers containing 20 and 30 mol% Chol. Thus, the results of ITC experiments and MD simulations are consistent with each other. The major source of the negative entropy change of transfer from POPC to SM bilayers appears to be the rotational distribution of Chol. In SSM bilayers, the distribution of the tilt angle of Chol relative to the membrane normal is narrow indicating a well-defined, close to vertical, sterol orientation [99]. But in POPC, in the limit of low Chol concentration, the distribution is much broader and the average tilt angle is much larger [99]. When Chol is transferred from POPC to SM membranes, its rotational entropy decreases significantly [99].

Recalling that the MD simulations were performed in the low limit of Chol content, the Gibbs energies of transfer provide a way to

estimate ω_{AB} between Chol and SM in the ℓ_d state.² Thus, with $\Delta G_{Chol}^{PC \rightarrow SM} = -1.15$ kcal/mol at 56 °C, and -1.55 kcal/mol at 46 °C from the MD simulations [99], the free energy of transfer per interaction, assuming 6 nearest neighbors, is $\Delta G_{\text{Chol}}^{\text{PC} \rightarrow \text{SM}}/6 = -190 \text{ kcal/mol}$ at 56 °C, -260 at 46 °C, and, by extrapolation, -320 cal/mol at 37 °C. Using Eq. (14), this estimate yields ω_{AB} values for the SM/Chol interaction in the ℓ_d phase between ~ -100 cal/mol at 56 °C and ~-200 at 37 °C, which is still slightly favorable, more than for DPPC/Chol, where $\omega_{AB} \approx 0$ [47], but much less favorable than for the SM/Chol interaction in the ℓ_o phase (\approx -350 cal/mol, see below).

7. Interactions in the ℓ_0 phase: high cholesterol content

The interaction between Chol and an ordered phospholipid, such as SM or a saturated PC, is especially important in the ℓ_o phase, where the Chol content is high. The temperature dependence of ω_{AB} for DPPC/Chol was determined by the NNR method. Unlike in the ℓ_d phase where it is independent of temperature, ω_{AB} varies significantly with temperature in the ℓ_o phase [47]: at 65 °C the interaction is marginally favorable, with $\omega_{\rm AB}$ =-100 cal/mol, but at 45 °C it almost doubles (-190 cal/mol), and extrapolation to 20 °C yields $\omega_{AB} \approx -320$ cal/mol. Using the van't Hoff equation, this temperature dependence corresponds to an interaction enthalpy $\Delta H_{AB} = -2$ kcal/mol for DPPC/Chol [47]. Similarly, for DSPC/Chol, $\omega_{AB} \approx -350$ cal/mol based on extrapolation [46] from high-temperature data [29,40]. Those favorable interaction free energies are at the high-end limit of what is usually observed with lipids. It is highly significant that they occur between saturated PC and Chol in the ℓ_o phase. The interaction of Chol with SM is at least as favorable as with DPPC or DSPC, and probably more so [96,100-102]. On this basis, a conservative estimate for the interaction of Chol with ordered SM is ω_{AB} = -350 cal/mol [46]. Based on ITC data, and assuming 6 neighbors/molecule, ω_{AB} = -600 ± 300 cal/mol for SM/Chol in the *l*_o phase [48]. This is fairly good agreement considering the uncertainty involved and that the values are obtained by completely unrelated approaches.

The thermodynamics of uptake and release of Chol from POPC/ Chol and SM/Chol membranes were measured using ITC [103]. The changes in the thermodynamic functions of transfer of Chol from POPC/Chol 70:30 to SM/Chol 70:30, calculated from those ITC data, are essentially constant between 37 °C and 50 °C. Both the enthalpy and Gibbs energy of transfer are favorable: $\Delta H_{Chol}^{PC \rightarrow SM} = -3 \text{ kcal/mol}$

$$\Delta G_{\text{Chol}}^{\text{PC} \to \text{SM}} = z(g_{\text{BC}} - g_{AC} + g_{AA} - g_{BB}) \tag{9}$$

$$= z \left(\omega_{BC} - \omega_{AC} + \frac{1}{2} (g_{AA} - g_{BB}) \right) \tag{10}$$

$$= z(\omega_{\mathsf{BC}} - \omega_{\mathsf{AC}} + \delta), \tag{11}$$

where

$$\delta = \frac{1}{2} (g_{AA} - g_{BB}).$$

Hence.

$$\Delta G_{\text{Chol}}^{\text{PC} \to \text{SM}} / z = \omega_{\text{BC}} - \omega_{\text{AC}} + \delta \tag{13}$$

and $\Delta G_{\text{Chol}}^{\text{PC}\rightarrow\text{SM}} = -1$ kcal/mol [103]. Thus, the entropy change is unfavorable, with $T\Delta S_{\text{Chol}}^{\text{PC}\rightarrow\text{SM}} = -2$ kcal/mol. The unfavorable entropy changes arise because of the rotational freedom of Chol, which is larger in the POPC than in the SM membrane [99]. It is interesting that, based on MD simulations, transfer of Chol from POPC to SM in the limit of low Chol has a much larger temperature dependence, with $\Delta H_{Chol}^{PC \rightarrow SM} = -14 \text{ kcal/mol}$ [99] instead of -3 kcal/mol with 30 mol% Chol, obtained by ITC [103].

Although the POPC/Chol interaction is weakly repulsive in the ℓ_d phase, with ω_{AB} =+200 cal/mol [46,48], if Chol is forced into POPC bilayers at 30 mol% or more, the interaction may become more favorable, as the POPC chains become more ordered. In fact, ω_{AB} for POPC/Chol in the ℓ_o phase can be estimated from the above data, as follows. The free energy of transfer of Chol from POPC/Chol 70:30 to SM/Chol 70:30 is $\Delta G_{Chol}^{PC \rightarrow SM} \approx -1$ kcal/mol [103]. Assuming a uniform lipid distribution in the membrane (which is strictly incorrect, but probably not a bad approximation in this case) and 6 nearest neighbors per molecule, this corresponds to ≈-240 cal/mol. Hence, the difference between the interactions of Chol with SM and POPC, $\omega_{AB}^{SM/Chol} - \omega_{AB}^{POPC/Chol} \approx -350 \text{ cal/mol.}^3$ Substituting $\omega_{AB}^{SM/Chol} \approx -350 \text{ cal/mol.}$ [46] this yields $\omega_{AB}^{POPC/Chol} \approx 0$ in POPC/Chol 70:30, which is more favorable than in the ℓ_d phase. It is worth noting that with POPC/Chol interactions of +200 cal/mol in the ℓ_d phase and ~0 in the ℓ_o phase, phase separation cannot occur in POPC/Chol binary mixtures, in agreement with recent experiments [87-90].

MD simulations have shown that Chol interacts with saturated acyl chains preferentially over monounsaturated chains [104,105]. In SSM/ Chol 66:34 mixtures the energies of interaction of Chol with SM or POPC are similar [104]; if anything, they are slightly more favorable with POPC, but with a broader distribution. The interaction between the phospholipid headgroup and the Chol ring system is stronger with POPC than with SM, leading to a larger tilt angle of Chol relative to the bilayer normal. Therefore, in SSM/Chol 66:34 bilayers [104], the distribution of the tilt angle of Chol is narrow, around a close-tovertical sterol orientation. In POPC/Chol 66:34 the distribution is a little broader than in SSM/Chol or SSM bilayers [104]. But the energy distribution functions for SM/Chol and POPC/Chol bilayers are both unimodal. It is expected that formation of condensed complexes between SM and Chol would lead to bimodal distributions, the lower energy peak corresponding to the complex, the higher energy peak, to non-associated SM and Chol. Not only is this not observed, but the distributions look similar for POPC/Chol and SM/Chol [104]. These results do not provide evidence for the existence of well-defined condensed complexes.

The difference between the interaction energies of Chol with SSM and POPC in bilayers with 34% Chol is +1 kcal/mol [99]. In a first reading this might suggest that Chol transfer from POPC/Chol 66:34 to SSM/Chol 66:34 is endothermic with $\Delta H \approx +1$ kcal/mol, contrary to experiment, which gives $\Delta H = -2$ kcal/mol by extrapolation to SM/Chol 66:34 from data of SM/Chol 80:20 and 70:30, at 50 °C [103]. The situation, however, is more complicated because the +1 kcal/mol in the MD simulations is not the entire enthalpy of transfer [99]. The complete process involves not only breaking POPC/Chol interactions and making SM/Chol interactions, but also breaking or making Chol/ Chol interactions and breaking or making POPC/POPC and SM/SM

³ See previous footnote. In this case, because only 70% of the contacts are to phospholipid, and inserting z=6 for the number of nearest neighbors,

$\Delta G_{Chol}^{PC \rightarrow SM} = 0.7 \times 6(g_{BC} \text{-} g_{AC} + g_{AA} \text{-} g_{BB})$	(15)
$-1 \text{ kcal/mol} = 4.2(\omega_{BC}-\omega_{AC}+\delta)$	(16)
$-240 \text{ cal/mol} = \omega_{BC} - \omega_{AC} + \delta$	(17)

 $-240 \text{ cal/mol} = \omega_{BC} - \omega_{AC} + \delta$,

with $\delta \approx 100$ cal/mol, as before.

(12)

(14)

 $^{^2}$ The Gibbs energy of Chol transfer from POPC to SM ($\Delta G_{Chol}^{\rm PC \rightarrow SM})$ is the difference between the interactions broken and established in the POPC and the SM membranes. For simplicity in notation, let POPC be A, SM be B, and Chol be C. Then, using Eq. 1 with z as the number of nearest neighbors,

Now, δ must be a small positive number because the interactions between SM molecules are stronger than between POPC molecules ($g_{AA} > g_{BB}$). But, as a difference between two lipid-lipid interactions in the ℓ_d phase, $g_{AA}-g_{BB}$ is expected to fall within the typical range for ω_{AB} in the fluid state, about 100–300 cal/mol (Table 1); since this is divided by 2, it seems that $\delta \sim 100$ cal/mol is a good estimate. Using Eq. (13) with z=6, $\omega_{AC}=200$ cal/mol for POPC/Chol [46,48], and $\delta \sim 100$ cal/mol, one obtains



Fig. 6. Snapshot of a Monte Carlo simulation of SM/POPC 70:30, with ω_{AB} =+300 cal/mol. Reprinted with permission from Biophys. J. [46].

interactions. Perhaps the most important point is that these enthalpy changes, either positive or negative, are quite small.

8. Interactions between SM and POPC

In the ℓ_d state, the interaction between POPC and SM is probably small, $\omega_{AB} \approx 0$, as for most saturated PC (Table 1). In fact, from heats of transfer determined by ITC, $\omega_{AB} = 0 \pm 100$ cal/mol for POPC/SM [48]. If SM were in the gel state and POPC in the fluid state, $\omega_{AB} > +300$ cal/mol would be expected because SM (gel) and POPC (fluid) probably interact worse than the gel and fluid states of DPPC, for which $\omega_{AB} = +280$ cal/ mol. The interaction between ordered SM (ℓ_o state), and disordered POPC, is probably between $\omega_{AB} = +250$ and +300 cal/mol [46]. It should be noted that in the Monte Carlo simulations of Frazier et al. [46] POPC was assumed to be in the ℓ_d state but the SM was ordered. Therefore, the SM/POPC interaction was $\omega_{AB} = +300$ cal/mol, which is very different from zero, unlike in the ITC experiments, where SM and POPC were both in the ℓ_d phase [48].

9. Ternary mixtures of DPPC/DOPC/cholesterol

The thermodynamics of lipid interactions are somewhat different in the ternary system DPPC/DOPC/Chol, which clearly shows phase separation [106]. Based on the phase diagram and calculated tie-lines, the Gibbs energy of transfer of Chol between ℓ_d and ℓ_o



Fig. 7. Snapshot of a Monte Carlo simulation of SM/Chol 50:50, with ω_{AB} =-350 cal/mol. Reprinted with permission from Biophys. J. [46].



Fig. 8. Snapshot of a Monte Carlo simulation of SM/POPC/Chol 35:30:35, with ω_{AB} parameters of -350 cal/mol (SM/Chol), +300 cal/mol (SM/POPC), and +200 cal/mol (POPC/Chol). Reprinted with permission from Biophys. J. [46].

phases was estimated in DPPC/DOPC/Chol 35:35:30 [106]. At 20 °C, ΔG = -0.26 kcal/mol and at 25 °C, ΔG = -0.38 kcal/mol. These numbers are much smaller in absolute value than for Chol transfer between POPC and SM [103]. Furthermore, they exhibit the opposite temperature dependence, indicating an endothermic process, as if the transfer of Chol to the DPPC-rich phase were in this case favored by entropy. This can be understood because of the restrictions in the conformations of the DOPC acyl chains imposed by Chol; the oleoyl chains are intrinsically more disordered than the palmitoyl chains and placing Chol next to them results in an entropic penalty that is relieved when Chol is transferred to the DPPC-rich phase. Such constraints may not apply to the same degree to POPC. In any case, it should be remarked that, unlike in the separate mixtures of SM/Chol 70:30 and POPC/Chol 70:30, the concentrations of Chol in the two coexisting phases in DPPC/DOPC/Chol are, of course, not identical: ~30 mol% in ℓ_0 and ~20 mol% in ℓ_d [106]; therefore, comparison between the two systems must be made with some caution. It has been suggested that the major driving force for phase separation or domain formation in DPPC/DOPC/Chol is probably the very unfavorable interaction between DPPC and DOPC, whereas in SM/POPC/Chol mixtures it probably arises from the differential effect of Chol on the SM and POPC [103].

10. Ternary mixtures of SM/POPC/cholesterol

The lipid interactions in SM/POPC/Chol mixtures were examined by a combination of experimental FRET measurements with Monte Carlo simulations on a two-dimensional lattice, using a simple Ising model [46]. FRET was measured between two fluorophores that partition into the ℓ_d phase (POPC-rich) and simulated in the same mixtures, adjusting the interaction parameters of the three lipid pairs, (SM/Chol, SM/POPC, POPC/Chol) to obtain agreement between simulated and experimental values of the fluorescence energy transfer efficiency. If ω_{AB} for POPC/Chol is set to +200 cal/ mol, the distribution of lipids in a binary mixture is not very different from ideal mixing (Fig. 5) [46]. A stronger repulsive interaction, ω_{AB} =+300 cal/mol for SM/POPC, leads to formation of small domains in a binary mixture, but not to phase separation (Fig. 6). A favorable interaction, ω_{AB} =-350 cal/mol for SM/Chol, results in a distribution that is more uniform than ideal, with a tendency to form unlike, AB pairs in SM/Chol binary mixtures (Fig. 7). In none of these binary mixtures is phase separation observed [46]. However, when the three components are mixed together, phase separation is observed, as shown in Fig. 8 for SM/Chol/POPC 35:35:30 [46].

If the SM/POPC interaction is decreased to ω_{AB} =+250 cal/mol, the picture changes: large domains are still observed but not phase separation (Fig. 9) [46]. These changes in domain sizes are revealed by the domain distribution function of POPC molecules (Fig. 10). With fixed values for the POPC/Chol and SM/Chol interactions (ω_{AB} =+200 and -350 cal/mol, respectively) and $\omega_{AB}=300$ cal/mol for SM/POPC, the distribution is clearly bimodal, indicating phase separation (Fig. 10, black symbols); if ω_{AB} is decreased to 270 cal/mol, the peak corresponding to large domains becomes broader (Fig. 10, red symbols); and if ω_{AB} =250 cal/mol for the SM/POPC interaction, the distribution becomes very broad with no maximum (Fig. 10, gray symbols). Those changes are caused by a reduction of ω_{AB} for SM/ POPC by just 50 cal/mol [46]. Decreasing the absolute values of the other parameters would have comparable effects. This suggests that observation of large-scale phase separation in mixtures of SM/POPC/ Chol by fluorescence microscopy is sensitive to the SM structure, the presence of impurities, and oxidation of small amounts of components, as all those factors can be expected to change the apparent interactions by amounts equivalent to 50 cal/mol in ω_{AB} . This explains why micrometer size domains are observed in some samples but not in others, even if very similar [80,92]. Since the SM/DOPC interaction is certainly more repulsive than the SM/POPC interaction, larger domains are observed in ternary mixtures of SM/Chol with DOPC than with POPC [80]. In general, because the values of ω_{AB} are small, the domains formed are only marginally stable. They can easily be changed or actively regulated by moderate perturbations, such as the local incorporation of lipids or binding of peripheral proteins [33,34]. This is very different from the irreversible formation of lipid domains, leading to static structures, which would occur if the magnitudes of lipid-lipid interactions were large.

11. Conclusion: complex behavior from simple interactions

Non-ideal mixing of phospholipids and Chol above the $T_{\rm m}$ of the phospholipid was described as phase separation between two liquids, ℓ_d and ℓ_o , where Chol interacts favorably with the ordered state but unfavorably with the disordered state [5,7]. In the ternary mixtures examined recently, the ordered lipid is usually SM or a long-chain, saturated PC, and the disordered lipid is usually POPC or DOPC. Alternatively, the interactions between ordered phospholipids and Chol have been interpreted in terms of formation of condensed complexes [18,20,94,107]. In the condensed complex model, the two fundamental chemical components in a ternary mixture of SM/POPC/ Chol are the SM/Chol complexes and POPC, and the mixing



Fig. 9. Snapshot of a Monte Carlo simulation of SM/POPC/Chol 35:30:35, with ω_{AB} parameters of –350 cal/mol (SM/Chol), +250 cal/mol (SM/POPC), and +200 cal/mol (POPC/Chol). Reprinted with permission from Biophys. J. [46].



Fig. 10. Distribution function of POPC domains in SM/POPC/Chol 35:30:35, with ω_{AB} parameters of –350 cal/mol (SM/Chol), +200 cal/mol (POPC/Chol), and for SM/POPC, +300 (black), +270 (red), and +250 cal/mol (gray). Reprinted (with modifications) with permission from Biophys. J. [46].

entropy between these two 'components' is assumed ideal, according to regular solution theory. The Monte Carlo simulations of Frazier et al. [46] can be interpreted in terms of liquid–liquid phase separation. Large regions of ℓ_o (rich in SM/Chol) and ℓ_d (rich in POPC) phases are shown to coexist in SM/POPC/Chol mixtures (Fig. 8). On the other hand, consistent with complex formation, there is indeed a tendency for occurrence of pairs of Chol (red) and SM (white) molecules (Fig. 7).

The condensed complex model has had some important successes: it explains the monolayer phase diagrams with a pair of upper miscibility critical points [16] and the sudden increase in the rate of β cyclodextrin-induced Chol desorption at the stoichiometric concentration [17], which reflects the increase in Chol chemical potential when free PC is no longer available to form complexes [20]; it describes the experimental deuterium NMR signals in sterol/phospholipid bilayers [108]; and predicts the occurrence of a closed loop in the ternary mixtures of phospholipids and cholesterol [94,107].

However, as evident from several different theoretical and experimental approaches described here, the Gibbs energies of interaction between lipids are typically of the order of a few hundred calories per mol, most positive but some negative. The condensed complex model postulates values of free energy and enthalpy that are about one order of magnitude larger. The model uses an equilibrium constant for complex formation that corresponds to a Gibbs energy of about -3 kcal/mol (with one Chol and one phospholipid per complex) [107] to -4 kcal/mol (two phospholipids and one Chol per complex) [108], at room temperature. In contrast, an SM/Chol interaction parameter of only ω_{AB} = -350 cal/mol, in combination with repulsive interactions of +200 and +300 cal/mol between POPC/Chol and SM/ POPC, is sufficient to achieve phase separation in ternary systems [46]. Similarly, the enthalpy of formation of a condensed complex has been estimated to be between ΔH_{AB} =-9 kcal/mol (one phospholipid per complex) [107] and -19 kcal/mol (two phospholipids per complex) [108]. However, experimentally, from the temperature dependence of ω_{AB} of DPPC/Chol in the ℓ_o phase, a value of ΔH_{AB} =-2 kcal/mol was obtained [47]. Furthermore, $\Delta H \approx -10$ kcal/mol of phospholipid for complex formation is larger (in absolute value) than ΔH for the $\ell_d \rightarrow \text{gel phase transition of DPPC (-8.7 kcal/mol [4]) and SM}$ (≈-7 kcal/mol for PSM and brain SM [109]), which correspond to a greater ordering of the phospholipid acyl chains than the $\ell_d \rightarrow \ell_0$ transition. Indeed, the condensed complex model does not perform very well in simulating the experimental heat capacity curves of phospholipid/Chol mixtures in a quantitative manner, although qualitatively it correctly predicts some of the main features [19,108]. In addition, a 'spurious transition' (which is not supported by



Fig. 11. Interactions of POPC (black) with Chol (red) and SM (white) isolated (left) and upon formation of a complex (right). The value of $\langle \omega_{AB}^{POPC} \rangle$ is the average interaction between POPC and SM/Chol in each case, using ω_{AB} =+300 cal/mol for SM/POPC, and +200 cal/mol for POPC/Chol.

experiment) between complex and gel phase is predicted at low temperatures and high Chol concentrations [19]. The $\ell_d - \ell_o$ phase coexistence model actually performed quite well in describing those heat capacity functions [7]. The parameters of the microscopic interaction model correspond to $\omega_{AB} \approx \pm 1$ kcal/mol [5], which is high but closer to the values commonly found for lipid–lipid interactions (Table 1).

In the Monte Carlo simulations of Frazier et al. [46], binary mixtures of phospholipids and Chol do not show macroscopic phase separation (Figs. 5 and 7), but ternary mixtures do (Fig. 8), in agreement with experimental observations by fluorescence microscopy of GUVs [79,87]. Thus, a closed loop occurs in the ternary phase diagram (Fig. 4), which has been predicted by the condensed complex model [94,107] and observed experimentally [79,87]. The complex model stipulates that the unsaturated PC (POPC or DOPC) has a repulsive interaction with the SM/Chol complex but not with SM or Chol by themselves. What the Monte Carlo simulations show is that this extra interaction is not necessary for the observation of a closed loop in the ternary phase diagram [46]. All that is required is a relatively strong (~-350 cal/mol), favorable interaction for SM/Chol and two weaker, unfavorable interactions for POPC/Chol and SM/POPC (+200 and +300 cal/mol). In the simulations, when SM and Chol are paired they maintain the same interactions with each other and with POPC that they had in the absence of 'complex' formation. The same conclusions regarding the requirement for phase separation in ternary mixtures were reached by an approach combining Monte Carlo simulations with a mean-field treatment, using a Ginzburg-Landau free energy [110]. There too, it was found that all that was necessary were unfavorable interactions between the two phospholipids, a favorable interaction between Chol and the ordered phospholipid, and an unfavorable interaction between Chol and the disordered phospholipid. The shape of the closed-loop coexistence region in the phase diagram depends on the values of those interactions [110]. Furthermore, there is also no need to invoke multibody interactions [23] to explain the mixing behavior of SM/Chol/POPC bilayers: three pairs of binary interactions are sufficient [46].

The concept that a POPC molecule has a more repulsive interaction with a SM/Chol 'complex' than with either SM or Chol separately is entirely correct, but it is not necessary to invoke a change in the lipidlipid interactions. This was apparent in Monte Carlo simulations of the phase transition of DPPC in a two-dimensional lattice [30]. If the lipids were represented by dimers of thermodynamically coupled acyl chains a small interaction between gel and fluid chains (ω_{AB} =175 cal/mol) was sufficient to reproduce the experimental heat capacity function in the phase transition region. When the lipid was represented by independent chains a larger interaction was necessary (ω_{AB} =300 cal/ mol). Thus, when the chains are thermodynamically coupled, the effect on phase separation is larger. The formation of a SM/Chol 'complex' corresponds to coupling, though to a lesser degree, but the result is qualitatively similar. To understand its origins, consider a SM/Chol pair and its interactions with POPC nearest neighbors (Fig. 11). Using the values ω_{AB} = +200 cal/mol for POPC/Chol and +300 cal/mol for SM/ POPC interactions [46], the average interaction of SM and Chol with POPC before 'complex' formation is +250 cal/mol. After SM/Chol pair formation, the average interaction between POPC and the 'complex' increases to +313 cal/mol, which is larger than the most repulsive of the two interactions (300 cal/mol). This arises because the POPC molecules that interact with both Chol and SM (marked with a star in Fig. 11) contribute +500 cal/mol to the average.

For the same reason, a lipid interacting favorably with a peripheral membrane protein is induced to cluster, by the protein, in a mixture with another lipid, if the two lipids interact unfavorably, but with an interaction that is too weak to cause domain formation in the absence of the protein [33]. In this case, the protein couples like lipids so that their interaction with unlike lipids becomes more unfavorable. In the SM/Chol/POPC case, the favorable interaction between SM and Chol couples these two lipids together, so that their repulsive interaction with POPC is enhanced [46]. The principle is the same in both cases: the combined interactions of two lipids (coupled in space through a favorable thermodynamic interaction) with another lipid species with which they interact unfavorably leads to an enhancement, on average, of this repulsive interaction and therefore to clustering in domains. If the repulsive interaction is sufficiently strong, phase separation will occur.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by Cottrel College Science Award 7622 from Research Corporation.

References

- E.J. Schimshick, H.M. McConnell, Lateral phase separation in phospholipid membranes, Biochemistry 12 (1973) 2351–2360.
- [2] E.J. Schimshick, H.M. McConnell, Lateral phase separation in binary mixtures of cholesterol and phospholipids, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 53 (1973) 446–451.
- [3] S.H. Wu, H.M. McConnell, Phase separations in phospholipid membranes, Biochemistry 14 (1975) 847–854.
- [4] S. Mabrey, J. Sturtevant, Investigation of phase transitions of lipids and lipid mixtures by high sensitivity differential scanning calorimetry, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 73 (1976) 3862–3866.
- [5] J.H. Ipsen, G. Karlstroem, O.G. Mouritsen, H. Wennerstroem, M.J. Zuckermann, Phase equilibria in the phosphatidylcholine–cholesterol system, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 905 (1987) 162–172.
- [6] S. Mabrey, P.L. Mateo, J.M. Sturtevant, High-sensitivity scanning calorimetric study of mixtures of cholesterol with dimyristoyl- and dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholines, Biochemistry 17 (1978) 2464–2468.
- [7] J.H. Ipsen, O.G. Mouritsen, M.J. Zuckermann, Theory of thermal anomalies in the specific heat of lipid bilayers containing cholesterol, Biophys. J. 56 (1989) 661–667.
- [8] M.R. Vist, J.H. Davis, Phase equilibria of cholesterol/dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine mixtures: deuterium nuclear magnetic resonance and differential scanning calorimetry, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 451–464.
- M.B. Sankaram, T.E. Thompson, Modulation of phospholipid acyl chain order by cholesterol. A solid-state ²H-Nuclear Magnetic Resonance study, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 10676–10684.
- [10] M.B. Sankaram, T.E. Thompson, Interaction of cholesterol with various glycerophospholipids and sphingomyelin, Biochemistry 29 (1990) 10670–10675.
- [11] M.B. Sankaram, T.E. Thompson, Cholesterol-induced fluid-phase immiscibility in membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88 (1991) 8686–8690.
- [12] P.F.F. Almeida, W.L.C. Vaz, T.E. Thompson, Lateral diffusion in the liquid phases of dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine/cholesterol lipid bilayers: a free volume analysis, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 6739–6747.
- [13] P.F.F. Almeida, W.L.C. Vaz, T.E. Thompson, Percolation and diffusion in threecomponent lipid bilayers: effect of cholesterol on an equimolar mixture of two phosphatidylcholines, Biophys. J. 64 (1993) 399–412.
- [14] T.P.W. McMullen, R.N.A.H. Lewis, R.N. McElhaney, Differential scanning calorimetric study of the effect of cholesterol on the thermotropic phase behavior of a homologous series of linear saturated phosphatidylcholines, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 516–522.
- [15] M.I. Collado, F.M. Goñi, A. Alonso, D. Marsh, Domain formation in sphingomyelin/ cholesterol mixed membranes studied by spin-label electron spin resonance spectroscopy, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 4911–4918.
- [16] A. Radhakrishnan, H.M. McConnell, Condensed complexes of cholesterol and phospholipids, Biophys. J. 77 (1999) 1507–1517.
- [17] A. Radhakrishnan, H.M. McConnell, Chemical activity of cholesterol in membranes, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 8119–8124.
- [18] H.M. McConnell, M. Vrljic, Liquid-liquid immiscibility in membranes. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 32 (2003) 469–492.
- [19] T.G. Anderson, H.M. McConnell, Condensed complexes and the calorimetry of cholesterol-phospholipid bilayers, Biophys. J. 81 (2001) 2774–2785.

- [20] H.M. McConnell, A. Radhakrishnan, Condensed complexes of cholesterol and phospholipids, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1610 (2003) 159–173.
- [21] P.L.-G. Chong, Evidence for regular distribution of sterols in liquid crystalline phosphatidylcholine bilayers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 10069–10073.
- [22] F. Liu, I.P. Sugar, P.L.-G. Chong, Cholesterol and ergosterol supperlattices in threecomponent liquid crystalline lipid bilayers as revealed by dehyroergosterol fluorescence, Biophys. J. 72 (1997) 2243–2254.
- [23] J. Huang, G.W. Feigenson, A microscopic interaction model of maximum solubility of cholesterol in lipid bilayers, Biophys. J. 76 (1999) 2142–2157.
- [24] M.R. Alecio, D.E. Golan, W.R. Veatch, R.R. Rando, Use of a fluorescent cholesterol derivative to measure lateral mobility of cholesterol in membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 79 (1982) 5171–5174.
- [25] Y.-K. Shin, J.H. Freed, Dynamic imaging of lateral diffusion by electron spin resonance and study of rotational dynamics in model membranes: effect of cholesterol, Biophys. J. 55 (1989) 537–550.
- [26] G. Orädd, G. Lindblom, P.W. Westerman, Lateral diffusion of cholesterol and dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine in a lipid bilayer measured by pulsed field gradient NMR spectroscopy, Biophys. J. 83 (2002) 2702–2704.
- [27] M.S. Turner, P. Sens, N.D. Socci, Noneequilibrium raftlike domains under continuous recycling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 168301.
- [28] J. Gómez, F. Sagués, R. Reigada, Actively maintained lipid nanodomains in biomembranes, Phys. Rev. E 77 (2008) 021907.
- [29] P.F.F. Almeida, A. Pokorny, A. Hinderliter, Thermodynamics of membrane domains, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1720 (2005) 1–13.
- [30] R. Jerala, P.F. Almeida, R.L. Biltonen, Simulation of the gel-fluid transition in a membrane composed of lipids with two connected acyl chains: application of a dimer-move step, Biophys. J. 71 (1996) 609–615.
- [31] T.L. Hill, An Introduction to Statistical Thermodynamics, Dover, New York, 1985.
 [32] I.P. Sugar, T.E. Thompson, R.L. Biltonen, Monte Carlo simulation of two-
- component bilayers: DMPC/DSPC mixtures, Biophys. J. 76 (1999) 2099–2100. [33] A. Hinderliter, P.F.F. Almeida, C.E. Creutz, R.L. Biltonen, Domain formation in a
- fluid mixed lipid bilayer modulated through binding of the C2 protein motif, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 4181–4191.
- [34] A. Hinderliter, R.L. Biltonen, P.F.F. Almeida, Lipid modulation of protein-induced membranes domains as a mechanism for controlling signal transduction, Biochemistry 43 (2004) 7102–7110.
- [35] I.P. Sugar, R.L. Biltonen, N. Mitchard, Monte Carlo simulation of membranes: phase transition of small unilamellar dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine vesicles, Meth. Enzymol. 240 (1994) 569–593.
- [36] S.J. Vigmond, T. Dewa, S.L. Regen, Nearest-neighbor recognition within a mixed phospholipid membrane: evidence for lateral heterogeneity, J. Amer. Chem. Soc. 117 (1995) 7838–7839.
- [37] T. Dewa, S.J. Vigmond, S.L. Regen, Lateral heterogeneity in fluid bilayers composed of saturated and unsaturated phospholipids, J. Amer. Chem. Soc. 118 (1996) 3435–3440.
- [38] J. Zhang, B. Jing, N. Tokutake, S.L. Regen, Transbilayer complementarity of phospholipids. A look beyond the fluid mosaic model, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 10856–10857.
- [39] M. Sugahara, M. Uragami, S.L. Regen, Selective sterol-phospholipid associations in fluid bilayers, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (2002) 4253–4256.
- [40] M. Sugahara, M. Uragami, S.L. Regen, Selective association of cholesterol with long-chain phospholipids in liquid-ordered bilayers: support for the existence of lipid rafts, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 13040–13041.
- [41] N. Tokutake, B. Jing, S.L. Regen, Detection of unusual lipid mixing in cholesterolrich phospholipid bilayers: the long and the short of it, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 8994–8995.
- [42] S.M. Krisovitch, S.L. Regen, Nearest-neighbor recognition in phospholipid membranes: a molecular-level approach to the study of membrane suprastructure, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114 (1992) 9828–9835.
- [43] S.M.K. Davidson, S.L. Regen, Nearest-neighbor recognition in phospholipid membranes, Chem. Rev. 97 (1997) 1269–1279.
- [44] J. Huang, J.E. Swanson, A.R.G. Dibble, A.K. Hinderliter, G.W. Feigenson, Nonideal mixing of phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylcholine in the fluid lamellar phase, Biophys. J. 64 (1993) 413–425.
- [45] V.A. Parsegian, The cows or the fence? Mol. Membr. Biol. 12 (1995) 5-7.
- [46] M.L. Frazier, J.R. Wright, A. Pokorny, P.F.F. Almeida, Investigation of domain formation in sphingomyelin/cholesterol/POPC mixtures by fluorescence resonance energy transfer and Monte Carlo simulations, Biophys. J. 92 (2007) 2422–2433.
- [47] J. Zhang, H. Cao, B. Jing, P.F. Almeida, S.L. Regen, Cholesterol-phospholipid association in fluid bilayers: a thermodynamic analysis from nearest-neighbor recognition measurements, Biophys. J. 91 (2006) 1402–1406.
- [48] A. Tsamaloukas, H. Szadkowska, H. Heerklotz, Nonideal mixing in multicomponent lipid/detergent systems, J. Phys. Condens. Matter 18 (2006) S1125–S1138.
- [49] P.H. von Dreele, Estimation of lateral species separation from phase transitions in nonideal two-dimensional, Biochemistry 19 (1980) 88–94.
- [50] E.E. Brumbaugh, M.L. Johnson, C. Huang, Non-linear least squares analysis of phase diagrams fro non-ideal binary mixtures of phospholipids, Chem. Phys. Lipids 52 (1990) 69–78.
- [51] E. Freire, B. Snyder, Estimation of the lateral distribution of molecules in twocomponent lipid bilayers, lipid mixtures, Biochemistry 17 (1978) 3939-3934.
- [52] C. Johann, P. Garidel, L. Mennicke, A. Blume, New approaches to the simulation of heat capacity curves and phase diagrams of pseudobinary phospholipid mixtures, Biophys. J. 71 (1996) 3215–3228.

- [53] P. Garidel, C. Johann, A. Blume, Nonideal mixing and phase separation in phosphatidylcholine–phosphatidic acid mixtures as a function of acyl chain length and pH, Biophys. J. 72 (1997) 2196–2210.
- [54] P. Garidel, C. Johann, L. Mennicke, A. Blume, The mixing behavior of pseudobinary phosphatidylcholine mixtures as a function of pH and chain length, Eur. Biophys. J. 26 (1997) 447-459.
- [55] P. Garidel, A. Blume, Miscibility of phospholipids with identical headgroups and acyl chain lengths differing by two methylene units: effects of headgroup structure and headgroup charge, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1371 (1998) 83–95.
- [56] P. Garidel, A. Blume, Miscibility of phosphatidylethanolamine-phosphatidylglycerol mixtures as a function of pH and acyl chain length, Eur. Biophys. J. 28 (2000) 629–638.
- [57] T. Heimburg, R.L. Biltonen, A Monte Carlo simulation study of protein-induced heat capacity changes and lipid-induced protein clustering, Biophys. J. 70 (1996) 84–96.
- [58] W. Knoll, K. Ibel, E. Sackmann, Small-angle neutron scattering study of lipid phase diagrams by the contrast variation method, Biochemistry 20 (1981) 6379–6383.
- [59] J. Risbo, M.M. Sperotto, O.G. Mouritsen, Theory of phase equilibria and critical mixing points in binary lipid bilayers, J. Chem. Phys. 103 (1995) 3643–3656.
- [60] J.Y. Lehtonen, J.M. Holopainen, P.K. Kinnunen, Evidence for the formation of microdomains in liquid crystalline large unilamellar vesicles caused by hydrophobic mismatch of the constituent phospholipids, Biophys. J. 70 (1996) 1753–1760.
- [61] Y. Rodfiguez, M. Mezei, R. Osman, Association free energy of dipalmitoylphosphatidylserines in a mixed dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine membrane, Biophys. J. 92 (2007) 3071–3080.
- [62] O.G. Mouritsen, M. Bloom, Mattress model of lipid protein interactions in membranes, Biophys. J. 46 (1984) 141–153.
- [63] D.R. Fattal, A. Ben-Shaul, A molecular model for lipid–protein interaction in membranes: The role of hydrophobic mismatch, Biophys. J. 65 (1993) 1795–1809.
- [64] G.R. Hunt, L.R.H. Tipping, A ¹H-NMR study of the effects of metal ions, cholesterol and n-alkanes on phase transitions in the inner and outer monolayers of phospholipid vesicular membranes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 507 (1978) 242–261.
- [65] C.F. Schmidt, Y. Barenholz, C. Huang, T.E. Thompson, Monolayer coupling in sphingomyelin bilayer systems, Nature 271 (1978) 775–777.
- [66] L.O. Sillerud, R.E. Barnett, Lack of transbilayer copling in phase transitions of phosphatidylcholine vesicles, Biochemistry 21 (1982) 1756–1760.
- [67] P.F.F. Almeida, W.L.C. Vaz, T.E. Thompson, Lateral diffusion and percolation in two-phase, two-component lipid bilayers. Topology of the solid phase domains in-plane and across the lipid bilayer, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 7198–7210.
- [68] W.L.C. Vaz, D. Hallmann, R.M. Clegg, A. Gambacorta, M. De Rosa, A comparison of the translational diffusion of a normal and a membrane-spanning lipid in L alpha phase 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoylphosphatidylcholine bilayers, Eur. Biophys. J. 12 (1985) 19–24.
- [69] J. Korlach, P. Schwille, W.W. Webb, G.W. Feigenson, Characterization of lipid bilayer phases by confocal microscopy and fluorescence correlation spectroscopy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (1999) 8461–8466.
- [70] J. Zhang, B. Jing, V. Janout, S.L. Regen, Detecting cross talk between two halves of a phospholipid bilayer, Langmuir 23 (2007) 8709–8712.
- [71] M.J. Stevens, Complementary matching in domain formation within lipid bilayers, J. Amer. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 15330–15331.
- [72] J. Zhang, B. Jing, N. Tokutake, S.L. Regen, Transbilayer complementarity of phospholipids in cholesterol-rich membranes, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 3598–3603.
- [73] M.C. Collins, S.L. Keller, Tuning lipid mixtures to induce or suppress domain formation across leaflets of unsupported asymmetric bilayers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 124–128.
- [74] M.C. Collins, Interleaflet coupling mechanisms in bilayers of lipid and cholesterol, Biophys. J. 94 (2008) L32–L34.
- [75] D.W. Allender, M. Schick, Phase separation in bilayer lipid membranes: effects on the inner leaf due to coupling to the outer leaf, Biophys. J. 91 (2006) 2928–2935.
- [76] G.G. Putzel, M. Schick, Phase behavior of a model bilayer membrane with coupled leaves, Biophys. J. 94 (2008) 869–877.
- [77] A.J. Wagner, S. Loew, S. May, Influence of monolayer-monolayer coupling on the phase behavior of a fluid lipid bilayer, Biophys. J. 93 (2007) 4268–4277.
- [78] T.P.W. McMullen, R.N. McElhaney, New aspects of the interaction of cholesterol with dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine bilayers as revealed by high-sensitivity differential scanning calorimetry, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1234 (1995) 90–98.
- [79] S.L. Veatch, S.L. Keller, Seeing spots: complex phase behavior in simple membranes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1746 (2005) 172–185.
- [80] S.L. Veatch, S.L. Keller, Separation of liquid phases in giant vesicles of ternary mixtures of phospholipids and cholesterol, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 3074–3083.
- [81] G.W. Feigenson, J.T. Buboltz, Ternary phase diagram of dipalmitoyl-PC/dilauroyl-PC/ cholesterol: nanoscopic domain formation driven by cholesterol, Biophys. J. 80 (2001) 2775–2788.
- [82] A. Findlay, The Phase Rule, 9th ed., Dover, New York, 1951, p. 8.
- [83] T.L. Hill, Thermodynamics of small systems (Parts I and II), Dover, New York, 1994.
 [84] R.C. Mateo, A.U. Acuña, J.-C. Brochon, Liquid-crystalline phases of cholesterol/ lipid bilayers as revealed by the fluorescence of *trans*-parinaric acid, Biophys. J. 68 (1995) 978–987.
- [85] R.F.M. de Almeida, A. Fedorov, M. Prieto, Sphingomyelin/phosphatidylcholine/ cholesterol phase diagram: boundaries and composition of lipid rafts, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 2406–2416.
- [86] R.F.M. de Almeida, L.M.S. Loura, A. Fedorov, M. Prieto, Lipid rafts have different sizes depending on membrane composition: a time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer study, J. Mol. Biol. 346 (2005) 1109–1120.

- [87] S.L. Veatch, S.L. Keller, Miscibility phase diagrams of giant vesicles containing sphingomyelin, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 148101.
- [88] J. Henriksen, J.A.C. Rowat, E. Brief, Y.W. Hsueh, J.L. Thewalt, M.J. Zuckermann, J.H. Ipsen, Universal behavior of membranes with sterols, Biophys. J. 90 (2006) 1639–1649.
- [89] A. Pokorny, L.E. Yandek, A.I. Elegbede, A. Hinderliter, P.F.F. Almeida, Temperature and composition dependence of the interaction of δ-lysin with ternary mixtures of sphingomyelin/cholesterol/POPC, Biophys. J. 91 (2006) 2184–2197.
- [90] H. Heerklotz, A. Tsamaloukas, Gradual change or phase transition: characterizing fluid lipid-cholesterol membranes on the basis of thermal volume changes, Biophys. J. 91 (2006) 600–607.
- [91] J. Zhao, J. Wu, F.A. Heberle, T.T. Mills, P. Klawitter, G. Huang, G. Costanza, G.W. Feigenson, Phase studies of model biomembranes: complex behavior of DSPC/ DOPC/cholesterol, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 2764–2776.
- [92] J. Zhao, J. Wu, H. Shao, F. Kong, N. Jain, G. Hunt, G. Feigenson, Phase studies of model biomembranes: macroscopic coexistence of Lα+Lβ, with light-induced coexistence of Lα+Lo phases, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 2777–2786.
- [93] J.R. Silvius, Fluorescence energy transfer reveals microdomain formation at physiological temperatures in lipid mixtures modeling the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 1034–1045.
- [94] H. McConnell, Complexes in ternary cholesterol-phospholipid mixtures, Biophys. J. 88 (2005) L23-L25.
- [95] R. Elliott, I. Szleifer, M. Schick, Phase diagram of a ternary mixture of cholesterol and saturated and unsaturated lipids calculated from a microscopic model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 098101.
- [96] J.R. Silvius, Role of cholesterol in lipid raft formation: lessons from lipid model systems, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1610 (2003) 174–183.
- [97] T.A. Harroun, J. Katsaras, S.R. Wassall, Cholesterol hydroxyl group is found to reside in the center of a polyunsaturated lipid membrane, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 1227–1233.
- [98] S.E. Feller, K. Gawrisch, Properties of docosahexanoic-acid-containing lipids and their influence on the function of rhodopsin, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15 (2005) 416–422.

- [99] Z. Zhang, L. Lu, M.L. Berkowitz, Energetics of cholesterol transfer between lipid bilayers, J. Phys. Chem. B. 112 (2008) 3807–3811.
- [100] H. Ohvo-Rekilä, B. Ramstedt, P. Leppimäki, J.P. Slotte, Cholesterol interaction with phospholipids in membranes. Prog. Lipid Res. 41 (2002) 66–97.
 [101] T.P.W. McMullen, R.N.A.H. Lewis, R.N. McElhaney, Cholesterol-phospholipid
- [101] T.P.W. McMullen, R.N.A.H. Lewis, R.N. McElhaney, Cholesterol-phospholipid interactions, the liquid-ordered phase and lipid rafts in model and biological membranes, Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 8 (2004) 459–468.
- [102] S.-L. Niu, B.J. Litman, Determination of membrane cholesterol partition coefficient using a lipid vesicle-cyclodextrin binary system: effect of phospholipid acyl chain unsaturation and headgroup composition, Biophys. J. 83 (2002) 3408–3415.
- [103] A. Tsamaloukas, H. Szadkowska, H. Heerklotz, Thermodynamic comparison of the interactions of cholesterol with unsaturated phospholipid and sphingomyelins, Biophys. J. 90 (2006) 4479–4487.
- [104] Z. Zhang, S.Y. Bhide, M.L. Berkowitz, Molecular dynamics simulations of bilayers containing mixtures of sphingomyelin with cholesterol and phosphatidylcholine with cholesterol, J. Phys. Chem. B. 111 (2007) 12888–12897.
- [105] S.A. Pandit, E. Jakobsson, H.L. Scott, Simulation of the early stages of nanodomain formation in mixed bilayers of sphingomyelin, cholesterol, and dioleylphosphatidylcholine, Biophys. J. 87 (2004) 3312–3322.
- [106] S.L. Veatch, I.V. Polozov, K. Gawrisch, S.L. Keller, Liquid domains in vesicles investigated by NMR and fluorescence microscopy, Biophys. J. 86 (2004) 2910–2922.
- [107] A. Radhakrishnan, H. McConnell, Condensed complexes in vesicles containing cholesterol and phospholipids, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 12662–12666.
- [108] H. McConnell, A. Radhakrishnan, Theory of the deuterium NMR of sterolphospholipid membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 1184–1189.
- [109] Y. Barenholz, T.E. Thompson, Sphingomyelins in bilayers and biological membranes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 604 (1980) 129–158.
- [110] R. Reigada, J. Buceta, J. Gómez, F. Sagués, K. Lindenberg, Phase separation in three-component lipid membranes: from Monte Carlo simulations to Ginzburg– Landau equations, J. Chem. Phys. 128 (2008) 025102.